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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT & "
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

U AP B i L ot e o R e e o e 0

TIMBA BIMONT and JUH\J DOE (NEW
YORK), on behalf of themselves and others
simtlarly situated,

Plaintifls, CLASS ACTION COy
- AgAINST - ? Case No.
UNILEVER UNITED STATES, INC : ) E
Pefendant. JURY TRIAL DI M‘?‘ :
—————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————— X b

Plamgifty, TIMBA BIMONT and JOHN DOE (NEW YORK) (“Plaintiffs™), on behalf of
themselves and other persons similarly situated, by and through their undersigned attorneys, as
and for their Complaint against the Defendant, allege the following based upon personal
knowledge as to themselves and their own actions, and, as to all other matters, respectfilly |
allege, upon information and belief, as follows (Plaintiffs believe that substantial evidentiary

support will exist for the allepations set forth herein after o reasonable opportunity for

discovery):
NATURE OF THE ACTION
I, This action seeks redress on a class-wide basis for a deceptive and otherwise

improper  business practice that Defendant, Unilever United States, Ing, (hereinafter
“UNILEVER UNITED STATES"™) (the “Defendant™), engages in with respect to the packaging
of its “Degree® Dry Protection” and “AXE® Gold Temptation™” anti-perspirants and
deadorants. The Degree® Dry Protection is a line of anti-perspirants and deodorants available in
Clean, Cool Comfort, Cool Rush, Fxtreme Blast, Power, and Sport scents; the AXHE® Gold
Tempiation™ is a line of anti-perspirants and deodorants available as deodorant and anti-

perspirant and deodorant sticks (collectively, the “Products™). The Products come in 2.7 ounce




Case 1:14-cv-07749-JPO Document 2 Filed 09/24/14 Page 2 of 27

sticks and have non-fhnctional slack-fill in violation of the federal Food Drug & Cosmetic Act
("FDCAT) Section 403 (21 U.8.C. 343 (d)), Section 403(d) (21 U.8.C, 343(d)), the Code of
Federal Regulations Title 21 pat 100, et seq. and New York General Business Code (*NY
GBL”) § 349. The size of the coptainer in comparison to the actual product makes it appear to
the reasonable consurner that the consumer is buying more than what is actually being sold,

2. The Products are sold in a container which is approximately 5 %" in height and
approximately 2 %7 wide. The actual size of the deodorant stick of the 2.7 ounce Product is
approximately 2 27 wide and 37 long, Thus, the size of the container has nearly 37 of slack-il]

in height and is designed to give the false impression that there is more product than actually

packaped.
3. The price of the AXE® Gold Temptation™ Products is $4.99 (or more).
4, The price of the Degree® Dry Protection Products is $3.99 (or more).
5. The size of the container in refation 1o the volume of the product contained therein

gives the f&;] s¢ impression that the consumer is buying more than they are actually receiving,

6. Plaintiffy and Class members viewed Defendant’s misleading Product packaging,
reasonably relied in substantial part on the representations and wers thereby deceived in deciding
to purchase the Products for a premium price.

7. Plaintiffs bring this proposed consumer class action on behalf of themselves and
all other persons nationwide, who from the applicable limitations period up to and including the
present (the “Class Period”), purchased for consumption and not resale the Products.

&, Buring the Class Period, Defendant manufactured, marketed and sold the
Products throughout the United States. Defendant purposefully sold the Products with nog-

functional slack-fill,
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9, Defendant™s actions constitute violations of the federal FIXCA Scction 403 (2]

US.CL 343 (d)), Section 403(d) (21 U.S.C. 343(d)), the Code of Federal Regulations Title 21

"

part 100, eb. seq. and New York’s Deceptive Acts or Practices NY GBL § 349, as well as those
similar deceptive and unfalr practices and/or consumer protection aws in other states.

10, Defendant violated statites enacted in each of the fifty states and the District of
Columbia that are designed to protect consumers against unfair, deceptive, fraudulent and
unconseionable trade and business practices and false advertising, These statutes are:

a.  Alabama Deceptive Trade Practices Act, Ala, Statues Ann. §§ 8-19-1, st seq.;

b Alaska Unfair Trade Practices and Consumer Protection Act, Ak, Code § 45,530,471,
@t seg,,

¢ Arizena Consumer Fraud Act, Arizona Revised Statutes, 88 4441321, ez seq.;

d. Arkansas Peceptive Trade Practices Act, Ark, Code § 4-88-101, ef seq.;

¢ California Congumer Legal Remedies Act, Cal, Civ, Code § 1750, er seq., and
Catitorma's Unfair Competition Law, Cal, Bus, & Prof Code § 17200, et seq.,

f Colorado Consumer Protection Act, Colo, Rev. Stal, § 6 - 1-101, et seq.,

g Comnecticut Unfair Trade Practices Act, Conn. Gen, Stat § 42-110a, ef seq.,

Ao Delaware Deceptive Trade Practices Act, 6 Detl. Code § 2511, ¢ seq.;

i Distriet of Columbia Consumer Protection Procedures Act, DO, Code § 28 3501, ¢
sed,

S Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act, Fla, Stat. Ann. § 501,201, ef seq.;

Hawaii Linfair and Decentive Practices Act, Hawail Revised Statues § 480 1, ef seq.,
and Hawail Uniform Deceptive Trade Practices Act, Hawail Revised Statutes §
481 A-1, et seq.;

m. Idaho Consumer Protection Act, Idaho Code § 48-601, et seq.;

no [llinois Consumer Fraud snd Deceptive Businegs Practices Act, 815 ILOCS § 505/1, e
seq.

0. Indiana Deceplive Consumer Sales Act, Indiana Code Ann. §§ 24-5-0.5-0.1, ¢! seq.,

2 lowa Consumer Fraud Act, lowa Code §8§ 714,16, ¢r seq.,

7. Kansas Consumer Protection Act, Kan. Stat. Ann §§ 30 626, af seq.;

7. Kentucky Consumer Protection Act, Ky. Rev, Stat, Ann. §§ 367.110, ¢/ seq., and the
Kentucky Untair Trade Practices Act, Ky. Rev, Stat. Ann §§ 365.020, ¢f seq.;

5. Louisiana Unfair Trade Practices and Consumer Protection Law, La. Rev. Stal, Ann.
§§ 511401, et veg.,

L Mame Unfair Trade Practices Act, 5 Me. Rev, Stat. § 2054, af veg,, and Maine
Uniform Degeptive Trade Practices Act, Me. Rev, Stat, Ann. 10, § 1211, erseq.,

w. Maryland Consumer Protection Act, Md. Com. Law Code § 13101, ¢ veg..

v, Massachusetts Unfair and Deceptive Practices Act, Mass, Gen. Laws ch, 93A;

w. Michigan Conswmer Protection Act, § § 445.901, of seq.;

¥ Minnesota Prevention of Consumer Fraud Act, Minn. Stat §§ 325F.68, ef seq., and
Minnegsota Uniform Deceptive Trade Practices Act, Mino, Stat, § 3285043, et veq.,

¥ Missizsippi Consumer Protection Act, Miss, Code Ann. §§ 75-24-1, ¢f seq.,
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I't,

z Missouri Merchandising Practices Act, Mo, Rev, Star, § 407.010, er veq.;

aer. Montana Unfair Trade Practices and Consumer Protection Act, Mont. Code §30-14-
101, et seq.,

th. Nebraska Consurner Profection Act, Neb. Rev. Stat. § 59 1601, ef seg., and the
Nebraska Uniform Deceptive Trade Practices Act, Neb, Rev, Stat, § 87-301, er seg.;

ce Nevada Trade Regulation and Practices Act, Nev. Rev. Stat, §§ 398.0003, ¢ seq.,

dd. New Hampshire Consumer Protection Act, NH. Rev. Stat. § 358-A:, ef seq. |

ee. New Jersey Conswmer Fraod Act, N Stat, Ao, §§ 56:8 7, et seq.;

i New Mexico Unfair Practices Act, N.M. Stat, Ann. 88 37127, erseq. |

gg. New York Deceptive Acts and Practices Act, NY. Gen. Bus. Law §§ 349, ¢ veq.;

Ak, North Dakota Consumer Fraud Act, NI, Cent, Code §§ 5115 01, of seq.;

i, North Carelina Unlair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act, Novth Caroling Genearal
Statutes §§ 75-1, erseq.;

Ji. Ohic Deceptive Trade Practices Act, Ohio Rev. Code. Ann. §§ 4165.01, er seg.,

&k, Oklahoma Congumer Protection Act, Okla, Stat. 15 § 751, ef sey.;

il Oregom Unfair Trade Practices Act, Rev. Stat § 846,603, o seq.)

man Pennsylvania Unfair Trade Practices and Consumer Protection Law, 73 Penn,
Btal Ann, § § 201-1, ef seq.;

mi. Rhode Island Unfair Trade Practices And Consumer Protection Act, R.1. Gen. Laws §
6-13.1-1, et seq.;

oo, South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, 5.C. Code Laws § 39-5-10, et seq.,

£ South Dakota's Deceptive Trade Practices and Consumer Protection Law, 5.0,
Codified Laws §§ 37 24 [, ef seq.,

gg. Tennessee Trade Practices Act, Tennessee Code Arnmotated §§ 47-25-101, #f seq.,

pr. Texas Stal. Ann. §§ 1741, e seq., Texas Deceptive Trade Practices Act, f sep.;

s5 Utaeh Unfair Practices Act, Utah Code Ann. §8 13-5-1, & SEq.,

. Vermonl Consumer Fraud Act, Vi Stat. Ann, 669, § 2451, et seq.,

w. Virginia Consurner Protection Act, Virginia Code Ann, §§59.1-196, ef seq.;

v, Washington Consumer Fraud Act, Wash, Rev, Code § 19.86.010, er seq.,

ww, West Virginia Consumer Credit and Protection Act, West Virginia Code § 46A-6-
101, et zeq.;

xx. Wisconsin Deceptive Trade Practices Act, Wis. Staf. §§ 100 18, &f seq.;

yy. Wyoming Consumer Protection Act, Wyoning Stat, Asn, §§40-12-101, ef seq.

Defendant has deceived Plaintifts and other consumers nationwide by

mischaracterizing the size of its Products. Defendant has been unjustly enriched as a result of ity

conduct, Through these unfair and deceptive practices, Defendant has collected millions of

dollars from the sale of 1ts Products that it would not have otherwise eamed.

12

M

JURISDECTIOM AND VENUE

The Couri has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U S.(C. § 1332, because

this is a clags action, as defined by 28 U.S.C § 1332{d)(1)(B), in which s member of the putative
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class i3 a citizen of a different state than Defendant, and the amount in controversy exceeds the
suri or value of §3,000,000, excluding interest and costs, See 28 1U.8.C. § 1332(d)(2).

i3 The Court has jurisdiction over the federal claims wlleged herein pursuant to 2¥
U5.C§ 1337 beeause it arises under the laws of the United States.

i4, The Court has junisdiction over the state law claims because they form part of the
same case or controversy under Article 11 of the United States Constitution.

15, Alternatively, the Court has jurisdiction over all claims alleged herein pursuant to
28 U.B.C § 1332 because the matter in controversy exceeds the sum or value of $75,000 and is
between oitizens of different states.

16, The Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendant because its Products are
advertised, marketed, distributed and sold throughout the United States; Defendant engaged in
the wrengdoing alleged in this Complaint throughout the United States, including in New York
State; Defendant is avthorized to do business in New York State: and Defendant has sufficient
minimum contacts with New York and/or otherwise has intenfionally availed itself of the
markets in New York State, rendering the exercise of jurisdiction by the Court permissible under
traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice. Moreover, Defendant is engaged in
substantial and not isolated activity within New York State.

i7. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C § 1391(a) and (b), because a
substantial part of the events giving vise to Plaintiffs’ claims occurred in this District, and
Defendant is subject to personal jurisdiction in this District. Plaintiffs purchased and used

Defendant™s Products in New York County.

L
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18, Plaintiff, TIMBA BIMONT, is a citizen of the state of New York and resides in
New York County, Plaintift BIMONT has purchased numerous Axe and Degree Products for
personat consumption within the State of New York. Plaintiff BIMONT purchased the products
from convenience stores and pharmacies located throughout New York County, including but
not Hmited 10 Duane Reade and CVS.

19, Plaintiff, JOMN DOE, is a citizen of the state of New York,

20, Defendant UNILEVER UNITED STATES INC, is a corporation organized under
the faws of Delaware with headquarters at 800 Sylvan Avenue, Enplewood Cliffs, New Jersey
07632 and an address for service of process at The Corporation Trust Company, Corporation
Trust center, 1209 Orange St., Wilmington, DE 19801,

21, Defendant UNILEVER UNITED STATES, INC. owns the brands AXE® and
Degree®, as well as the trademarks for “AXE® Gold Temptation™ and “Degrec® Bry
Protection” that appear on the Products.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

2 Defendant manufactures, markets, sells and distributes, imter alia, various
censumer products under well-known household brand names such as AXE® and Degreed®,

23, Defendant sells its products at most supermarket chains, convenience stores and
major retail outlets throughout the United States, including but not limited to Costeo, Target,

Wal-Mart, Walgreens, CVS and Rite Aild.

24, Pursuant to CF.R. 100,100
In accordance with section 403(d) of the act, a food shall be deemed to be misbranded if

its container is 50 made, formed, or filled ag o be misieading,

)
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(#) A container that does not allow the consvmer to fully view its contents shail be
considered to be filled a8 to be misieading if it containg nonfunctional slack-fill. Slack-filt
is the difference between the actual capacity of a container and the volume of product
contained therein. Nonfunctional slack-fill is the empty space in a package that is filled to
less than its capacity for reasons other than:

(1) Protection of the contents of the package;

(2} The requirements of the machines used for enclosing the contents in such package;

(3) Unavoidable product settling during shipping and handling;

() The need for the package to perform a specific function (e.g., where packaging plays
a role in the preparation or consumnption of g food), where sugh function is inherent to the

nature of the food and is clearly communicated to consumers;

(5) The fact that the product consists of a food packaged in a reusable container where the

container is part of the presentation of the food and has value which is both significant in

proportion to the value of the product and independent of its function to hold the food,

e.g., 4 gift product consisting of a food or foods combined with a container that is

intended for further use after the food is consumed; or durable commemorative or

promotional packases; or

{6) Inability to ncrease level of fill or to further reduce the size of the package (e.g.,

where some minimum package size is necessary to accommodate required food labeling

{(excluding any vignettes or other nom-mandatory designs or label information),

discourage pilfering, facilitate handling, or accommodate tamper-resistant devices).

25. Defendant has routinely emploved slack filled packaging containing non-
functional siack-fili to mislead consumers into believing that they were receiving more than they
actually were.

26, Defendant lacked any lawful justification for doing so.

27, Plaintiff TIMBA BIMONT has purchased several of Defendant’s deodorants from
the AXE® Gold Temptation™ line, including (i) a 2.7 ounce stick of AXE® Gold
Temptation™ deodorant and (ii) a 2.7 ounce stick of AXE® Gold Temptation™ anti-perspirant

and deodorant for the purchase price of approximately $4.99 (or more) cach. He has also

purchased several of Defendani’s deodorants from the Degree® Dry Protection line, including a

L
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2.7 ounce stick of Degree® Dry Frotection in the Clean fragrance for the purchase price of
approximately §3.79 {or more} cach,

28, Plaintff JOHN DOE purchased several of Defendant’s deodorants from the
Depgreet® Dry Protection fine, including () a 2.7 ounce stick of Degree® Dry Protection in the
Clean fragrance and (i1} a 2.7 cunce stick of Degree® Dry Protection in the Cool Rush fragrance
ar;ci {ii) a 2.7 ounce stick of Degree® Dry Protection in the Power fragrance for the purchase
price of approximately $3.79 (or more) cach.

29. The container size and dimensions for all of the 2.7 ounce Degree® Dry
Protection Products are exactly the smme, The container size and dimensions for all of the 2.7
ounce Axe® Gold Temptation™ Products are exactly the same. The containers for the Products

are approximately 5 %" long and 2 %" wide and elliptically-shaped.
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30. Pictures of the Products and packaging are shown below:

)
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1o
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11



Case 1:14-cv-07749-JPO Document 2 Filed 09/24/14 Page 12 of 27




Case 1:14-cv-07749-JPO Document 2 Filed 09/24/14 Page 13 of 27

31, Ag shown ahove, the actual AXE®R deodorant stick inside the 2.7 cunce Product is
only approximately 37 tall and 2 4" wide. The actual Degree® deodorant stick inside the 2.7
ounce Product is only approximately 37 all and 2 %" wide, In making thetr purchase, Plaintiffs
and members of the Class relied on the size of the coniainer to believe that the entive volume of
the packagng would be filled to capacity with product.

3z, The volume capacity of the container for the 2.7 ounce sticks 18 approximately
11.250 cubic inches.

33, The volume of each 2.7 ounce stick is only approximately 5.890 cubic inches
feaving a difference of 5,40 ::uh.ic,: inches or approximately 48% of slack fill.

34, Non-functional slack-fill iz the difference between the actual capacity of a
container and the volume of product contained within (21 C.F.R. 100.100) (emphasis added).
Plaintiffs were (and a consumer would reasonably be) misted about the volume of the product
contained within the container in comparison o the size of the Products’ packaging. Plaintiffs
paid the full price of the Products and only received 52% of what Defendant represented they
would be getting due to the 48% non-functional stack-fill in the 2.7 ounce Products, In order for
Plaintitfs and other stmilarly situated persons to be made whole, Plaintiffs would have to receive
encugh of the deodorant stick so that there is no non-functional slack-fill or have paid 48% less
for each of the 2.7 ounce Products.

35 The propel/repel mechamism wtilized in the containers that pushes up the
deodorant stick does not require so much space to functivn, For example, a fully functioning
travel-size deodorant container using a similar standard propel/repel mechanism s only 3™ tall in

its entirety with the propelling mechanism faking up only % of an inch.

13
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36, Further, & brand new Product can be repelled to show that in its starting position,
it has already been propelled midway to bring the deodorant up to the top of the body of the
container. There is no doubt that there is no practical business purpose for the non-functional
slack-fill used to package the Products other than to mislead consumers as to the actual volume
of usable deodorani in the Products,

37. Defendant’s Products are also uniquely deceptive because consumers never
actually see the amount of deodorant product they are nsing until the Product is used up,
whereupon Plaintiffs and reasonable consumers will agsume they used up all 5 %" of deodorant
bought when in fact, they only nse up 37 of height,

A8, Under the Federal Food Drug and Cosmetic Act (herein “FDCA™), the term
“lalse” has 1ts wsual meaning of “untruthful,” while the term “misleading” is a term of art.
Misbranding reaches not only false claims, but also those claims that might be technically true,
but still nusleading, If any one representation in the labeling is misleading, the entire food is
misbranded, No other statement in the labeling cures a misleading statement. “Misleading™ is
Judged in reference to “the ignorant, the unthinking and the credulous who, when making a
purchase, do not stop to analyze.” United States v. BI-O-Pathic Pharmacy, 192 F.2d 62, 75 (9th
Cir. 1931). Under the FDCA, it is not necessary to prove that anvone was actually misled,

39.  Defendant’s packaging and advertising of the Products violate various state jaws
against misbranding, New York State law broadly prohibits the misbranding of food in language
identical to that found mn regulations promulgated purssant to the Federal Food, Drug, and
Cosmetic Act, 21 US.C. § 301 ef seq.:

Pursuant to NY., AGM. LAW § 201, “[f]ood shall be deemed to be misbranded: 1, If its

labeling 15 false or misleading in any particular... 4. If its container i3 s0 made, formed,
colored or filled as to be misleading.”

14
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40, [Defendant’s Products are misbranded under New York law because they misled
Plaintifts and Class members about the volume of the Produet contained within the container in
compatison to the size of the Products’ packaging. The size of the container in relation to the
actual amount of the Product contained thereln gives the false impression that the consumer ig
buying more than they are actually receiving,

a4}, The types of misrepresentations made above would be considered by a reasonable
consumer when deciding to purchase the Products. A reasonable person would attach bportance
to whether Defendant’s Products are “misbranded,” i.e., not legally salable, or capable of legal
possession, and/or contain nen-functional slack-ill.

42, Plaintiffs did not know, and had no reason to know, that the Products contained
non-functional slack fill.

43, Defendant’s Product packaging was a material factor in Plaintiffs’ and Class
members’ decisions to purchase the Products. Based on Defendant’s Product packaging,
Plaintiffs and Class members believed that they were getting more of the Products than was
actually being sold. Had Plainiiffs known Defendant’s packaging was slack-filled, they would
not have bought the slack-filled Products.

A, Defendant’s Product packaging as alleged herein is deceptive and misleading and
was designed to increase sales of the Products. Defendant’s misrepresentations are part of its
systematic Product packaging practice,

45, At the point of sale, Plaintiits and Class members did not know, and had no
reason to know, that the Products were mishranded as set forth herein, and would not have

bought the Products had they known the truth sbout them.
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46, Defendant’s non-functional slack-il packaging is misleading and in vielation of
FDA and consumer protection laws of each of the 50 states and the Dhstrict of Columbia, and the
Products at issue are misbranded as a matter of law, Misbranded products cannot be legally
manutactured, advertised, distributed, held or sold in the United States. Plaintiffs and Class
members would not have bought the Products had they known they were misbranded and illega
to sell or possess,

47, As a result of Defendant’s misrepresentations, Plaintiffs and thousands of others
throughout the United States purchased the Products.

48, Plaintff and the Class (defined below) have been damaged by Defendant’s
deceptive and unfair conduet in that they purchased Products with non-functional slack-fill and
paid prices they otherwise would not have paid had Detfendant not misrepresented the Products’
actual size.

CLASS ACTION AL EGATIONS

49, Plaintiffs bring this action as a class action pursvant to Rule 23 of the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure on behalt of the following class (the “Class™):

All persons or entities in the United States who made retail
purchases of the Products during the applicable limntations period,
and/or such subclasses as the Court may deem appropriate,
Fxeluded from the Class are current and former officers and
directors of Defendants, members of the immediate families of the
officers and directors of Defendants, Defendants’  legal
representatives, heirs, suceessors, agsigns, and any entity in which
they have or have had a conirolling interest, Also excluded from
the Class is the judicial officer to whom this lawsuit {s assigned.

340 The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is
impracticable, While the exact number of Class members is unknown to Plainiiffs at this time

and can only be ascerlained through the appropriate discovery, Plamnifiy believe that there are

16
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hundreds or thousands of members in the proposed Class. Other members of the Class may be
identified from records maintained by Defendant and may be notified of the pendency of this
action by mail, or by advertisement, using the form of notice gimilar o that customarily used in
class actions such as this.

51 Plamtiffs" claims are typieal of the claims of the members of the Class as all
members of the Class ase similarly affected by Defendant’s wrongful conduct.

2. Plantitfs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the
Class in that they have no interests antagonistic to those of the other members of the Class.
Plaintifls have retained experienced and competent counsel,

53, A class action 18 superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient
adjudication of this controversy. Since the damages sustained by individual Class members may
be relatively small, the expense and burden of individual litigation maske it impracticable for the
members of the Class to mdividually seek redress for the wrongful conduct alleged herein, If
Class treatment of these claims were not available, Defendant would tikely unfairly receive
millions of dollars or more in improper charges,

54, Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and
predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class. Among the
common questions of law fact 1o the Class are:

i, Whether Defendant labeled, packaged, maketed, advertised and/or sold
Products to Plaintitfy, and those similarly situated, using false, misleading
and/or deceptive packaging and labeling,;

1. Whether Defendant’s actions constitute violations of 16 C.F.R. 100, e seq.,

17
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. Whether Defendant’s actions constitute violations of the New York General
Buginess Law § 349,
v, Whether Defendant omitted and/or misrepresented material facts in connection
with the labeling, packaging, marketing, advertising and/or sale of Products;
v. Whether Defendant’s labeling, packaging, marketing, advertising and/or selling
Products constituted an unfair, unlawfol or fraudulent practice;
vi. Whether the packaging of the Products dunng the relevant statutory period
constituted unlawiul stack-fill;
vil,  Whether, and to what extent, infunctive relief should be imposed on Defendant
io prevent such conduet in the future;
vi, Whether the members of the Class have sustained damages as a result of
Defendant’s wrongful conduct;
ix. The appropriate measure of damages and/or other relief
% Whether Defendant has been unjustly eariched by its scheme of using false,
misieading and/or deceptive labeling, packaging or misrepresentations, and;
%1, Whether Defendant should be enjoined from continuing its unlawful practices.
55.  The class is readily definable, and prosecution of this action as a Class action will
reduce the possibilily of repetitious litigation. Plaintiffs know of no difficulty which will be
encountered in the management of this ltigation which would preclude its maintensnce as a
Class action.
36, A class action is superior 1o other available methods for the fair and efficient
adjudication of this confroversy. The damages suffered by any individual class member are too

smadl 1o make it economically feasible for an individual class member to prosecute a separate
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action, and it is desirable for judicial efficiency to concentrate the litigation of the claims in this
forum. Purthermore, the adjudication of this controversy through a class action will avoid the
potentially ineonsistent and conflicting adjudications of the claims asserted herein, There will be
no difficulty in the management of this action as a class action.

57.  The prerequisites to maintaining a class action for injunctive relief or equitable
relief pursuant to Rule 23(b)(2} are met, as Defendant has acted or refused to act on grounds
generally applicable to the Class, thereby making appropriate final injunctive or equitable relief
with respect to the Class as a whole,

58, The prerequisites to maintaining a class action for imjunctive relief or equitable
reliet’ pursuant to Rule 23(b)(3) are met, as questions of law or fact common to the Class
predominate over any questions affecting only individual members and a class action is superior
to other available methods for fairly and efficiently adjudicating the controversy.

59, The prosecution of separate actions by members of the Class would create a risk
ot establishing inconsistent rulings and/or incompatible standards of conduct for Defendant,
Additionally, individual actions may be dispositive of the interest of all members of the Class,
although certain Clags members are not parties to such actions.

60 Defendant’s conduct is penerally applicable to the Class as a whole and Plaintiffs
seek, Inter alia, equitable remedies with respect to the Class as a whole. As such, Defendant’s
systematic policies and practices make declaratory relief with respect to the Class as a whole

appropriate.

14
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CAUSES OF ACTION

COUNT T

INJUNCTION FOR VIOLATIONS OF NEW YORK GENERAL BUSINESS LAW § 349
(DHECEPTIVE AND UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT)

61, Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every aflegation contained above as if fully
set forth herein and further afleges the following:

62, Plaintitfs bring this claim on behall of themselves and other members of the Class
for an infunction for violations of New York's Deceptive Acts or Practices Law, NY GBL § 349,

63.  NY GBL § 349 provides that “deceptive scts or practices in the conduct of any
business, trade or commerce or in the furnishing of any service in this state are . . . unlawful.”

64, Under NY GBL § 349, it is not necessary to prove justifiable reliance. (“To the
extent that the Appellate Division order imposed a reliance requirement on General Business
Law [§1349 ... claims, it was error. Justifiable reliance by the plaintiff is not an element of the
statutory claim.” Koch v. Acker, Merrall & Condit Co., 18 N.Y.3d 940, 941 (N.Y. App. Div.
2012} (internal citations omitted)).

65, Any person who has been injured by reason of any violation of NY GBL § 349
may bring an action in his own name to enjoin such unlawiu) act or practice, an action to recover
hig actual damages or fifty dollars, whichever is greater, or both such actions. The court may, in
its discretion, inerease the award of damages to an amount not to exceed three Hmes the actual
damages up to one thousand dollars, if the court finds the defendant willfully or knowinply
violated this section. The court may award reasonable attorney’s fees to a prevailing plaintiff.

66. The practices employed by Defendant, whereby Defendant advertised, promoted,

marketed and sold its Products in packaging resulting in non-functionsl stack-fill are unfair,

20
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deceptive, and misleading and are in vioTation of the NY GBI § 349 and 21 C.F.R. 100.100 in
that said Products are misbranded. 21. C.F.R. 100.100 provides in part:
in accordance with section 403(d) of the FDICA, a food shall be
decmed to be misbranded #f' its container is so made, formed, or
filled as to be misleading. (a) A coatainer that does not ailow the
consumer to fully view its contents shall be considered to be filled
as to be misleading if it containg nonfunctional slack-fill. Slack-
fill 15 the difference between the actual capacity of a container and
the volume of product contained within,
67. The foregoing deceptive acts and practices were directed at consumers.
68, Defendant should be enjoined from packaging its Products with non-functional
slack-1ill as described above pursuant to NY GBL § 349 and 21 CF R, 100.100.
69, Plaintiffs, on behalt of themselves and all others similarly situated, respeetfully
demand a judgment enjoining Defendant’s conduet, awarding costs of this proceeding and

attorneys’ fees, as provided by NY GBL, and such other relief as this Court deems just and

proper.

COUNT 1

VIOLATIONS OF NEW YORK GENERAL BUSINESS LAW § 349
(DECEPTIVE AND UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT)

70, Plamntiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained above as if fully
set forth herein.

71, Plaintifts bring this claim on behalf of themsebves and other members of the Class
for violations of NY GBI § 349,

72. By the acts and conduct alleped herein, Defendant committed unfair or deceptive

acts and practices by misbranding its Products as seeming to contain maore in the packaging than

is actually included,
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73. The practives employed by Defendant, whereby Defendant advertised, promoted,
marketed and sold its Produets in packages with non-functional slack-fill are unfair, deceptive
and misleading and are in vielation of 21 CFR 100,100 in that said Products are misbranded.

74, The foregoing decoptive acts and practices were directed at consumers.

75, Plamtiffs and the other Class members suffered a loss as a result of Defendant’s
deceptive and unfair trade acts, Specifically, as a result of Defendant’s deceptive and unfair acts
and practices, Plaintiffs and the other Class members suffered monetary losses sssociated with
the purchase of 2.7 ounce Products, 1.e., receiving only approximately 52% of the capacity of the
packaping.

COUNT IiE

NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION
{AH States and the District of Columbia)

76. Plaintitfs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained above as if fully
set forth herein.

77, Defendant, directly or through its agents and employees, made false
representations, concealment and nondisclosures to Plaintiffs and members of the Class.
Defendant, through its labeling, advertising and marketing of the Products, make uniform
representations regarding the Products,

78, Defendant as the manufacturer, packager, lubeler and initial seller of the Products
purchased by the Plainti{f had a duty to disclose the true nature of the Products and not sell them
with noa-functional slack-fill. Defendant had exclusive knowledpe of material facts not known
or reasonably accessible to the Plaintiff;, Defendant actively concealed material facts from the
Plaintiff and Defendant made partial representations that are misleading because some other

material fact has not been disclosed, Defendant’s failure to disclose the information it had & duty
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to disclose constitutes material misrepresentations and materially misleading omissions which
misied the Plamiiff who refied on Defendant in this regard to disclose all material facts
accurately and truthfully and fully.

79, Plainttfs and members of the Class reasonably telied on Defendant’s
representation that its Products contain more product than actually packaged.

8. In making the representations of fact to Plaintiffs and members of the Class
deseribed herein, Defendant has failed to fulfill its duties to disclose the material facts set forth
above, The direct and proximate cause of this failure to disclose was Defendant’s negligence
and carclessness,

81 Defendant, in making the misrepresentations and omissions, and in doing the acts
alleged above, knew or reasonably should have kaown that the representations were ot true.
Pefendant made and intended the misrepresentations to induce the reliance of Plaintiffs and
members df the Class,

82. Plamntiffs and members of the Class would have acted differently had they not
been misled — e they would not have paid money for Products in the first place.

83, Defendant has a duty to correct the misinformation it disseminated through its
advertising of the Products. By not informing Plaintiffs and members of the Class, Defendant
breached its duty. Defendant also profited financially as a result of this breach,

54, Plamntiffs and members of the Class velied upon these false representations and
nondisclosures when purchasing Products, upon which reliance was justified and reasonably
toresecable.

83, As z direct and proximate result of Defendant’s wrongful conduct, Plaintiffs and

members of the Class have suffered and continue to suffer economic losses and other general and

4
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specific damages, ineluding but not Himited 1o the amounts paid for Products, and any interest
that would have been accrued on all those mondes, all in an smount to be determined according
to proot at time of trial,

86, Defondant acted with intent to detraud, or with reckless or negligent disregard of
the rights of Plaintiffs and members of the Class,

87.  Plaintiffs and members of the Class are entitled to punitive damagoes. Therefore,
Plaintitfs pray for relief as set forth below.

COMBMON LAW FRAVD
{All States and the Disteict of Columbia)

88, Plainti{fs repeat and reallege cach and every allegation contained ahove as if fully
set forth hevein.

89, Defendart intentionally made materially false and misleading representations
reparding the size, amount and contents of the Products.

P0.  Plaintitls and the Class were induced by, and relied on, Defendant’s false and
misleading packaging, representations and omissions and did not know at the time that they were
purchasing the Products that they were purchasing amounts of product that were much smaller
than the size of the container in which the products were packaged.

o1, Defendant kaew or should have known of its false and misleading labeling,
packaping and misrepresentations and omissions. Defendant nevertheless continued o promote
and encourage customers to purchase the Products in a misteading and deceptive manner.

92, Plaintiffs and members of the Class have been injured as a result of Defendant’s

fraudhident conduct,
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93, Defendant is liable to Plaintiffs and members of the Class for damages sustained
- as a result of Defendant’s fraud, in an amount to be determined at trial.

COUNT VI

UNJUST ENRICHMENT
(Al States and the District of Columbia)

94, Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the above paragraph as if set forth
herein,

95 As a result of Defendant’s deceptive, fraudulent and misleading labeling,
packaging, advertising, marketing and sales of Products, Defendant was enriched, at the expense
of Plaintiffs and members of the Class, through the payment of the purchase price for
Defendant’s Products,

96, Plamtiffs and mmﬁbem of the Class confarred a benefit on Defendant through
purchasing the Produet, snd Defendant has knowledge of this benefit and has voluntarily
accepted and retained the benefits conferred on it

&7, Defendant will be unjustly enriched if it is allowed to retain such funds, and cach
Class member 15 entitled to an amount equal to the amount they enriched Defendant and for
which Defendant has been unjustly enriched.

98, Under the circumstances, it would be against equity and good eonscience to
pernut Deferndant to retain the ill-gotten benefits that it received from Plaintiffs, and il others
similarly situated, in light of the fact that the volumes of the Products purchased by Plaintiffs and
memoers of the Class, was not what Defendant purported it to be by its labeling and packaging.
Thus, it woula be unjust or ineguitable {for Defendant to refain the benefit without restitution to

Plaintiffs, and all others similarly situated, for 52% of the purchase price of Products, which

b2
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vepresents the percentage of the amount of Product (48%) actually received to the size of the
packaging.

PRAYER FOR RELIEY

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs and members of the Class pray for relief and judgment against
Defendant as toliows:

(A)  For an Order certitving the nationwide Class and under Rule 23 of the Federal
Rutes of Civil Procedure and naming Plaintiffs as representatives of the Class and Plaintiffy’
attorneys as Class Counsel to represent members of the Class;

(B} For an Order declaring the Defendant’s conduct violates the statutes referenced
herein,

(C}  Foran Order finding fu favor of Plaintiffs and the Class;

(L) For compensatory and punitive damages in amounts to be determined by the
Court and/or jury;

(£) For prejudgment interest on all amounts awarded;

{F) For an Order of restitution and al? other forms of eguitable monetary relief

(G} Forinjunctive relief to repackage the Products without non-functional slack-fill as
pleaded or as the Court may deem proper;

(H)  For an Order awarding Plaintifts and the Class their reasonable attomeys’ fees
and expenses and costs of suit; and

(H tor such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.
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DEMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY

Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated, hereby demand a jury

trral on all elaims o triahle,

Pated: September 24, 2014

Respectfully submitted,

LEE LITIGATION GROUP, PLLC

CI Lee (CL 4086)

30 Past 39" Sireet, Second Floor

New York, NY 10016

Tl 2124651188

Fax: 212-4G5-1 181

Aitorneys Jor If’:,’a:fz? niiffs and the Class
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